A Week With The Bennies

1. Puta Arenas

Before I left Punta Arenas I was under the impression that the Falklands was named after the late great Peter Falk, who played Columbo in the eponymous 70’s T.V. cop show, and that it was created in the early 80’s by Margaret Thatcher to improve her chances of re-election. Little did I know that it was much, much less interesting than that. It was, in fact, named after the late great Captain Peter Falk, the English Sailor, who discovered it around 200 years ago. Nothing much has happened there since, apart from a war and me visiting it. 

When I arrived in Punta Arenas, by plane from Puerto Montt, I spent my first night getting drunk with an English couple. After visiting the pharmacy for a hangover cure the next morning I bumped into Ricardo Manzilla, (Richard Stain), who very kindly asked if I was lost or French. Presumably by this he meant that if I was French I wouldn’t be lost. Because I replied that I wasn’t French he took it that I was lost (which I wasn’t), and he hastened to lead me to a Café called “Lomit’s”. He made me order breakfast while he watched, and spoke to me in French. Even though I had clearly told him that I wasn’t.

Still, he took me on a tour of the town of Punta Arenas (Sandy Point), or as the locals amusingly say “Puta Arenas” (Sandy Whore). Ricardo pointed out the prison to me, which is in the middle of the town; hence there is an overcrowding problem as they can’t afford to buy more land in the centre to expand the building, then we went to a lingerie shop. We waited here for some time while the shop owner waited for the delivery of some female orientated wrapping paper. What a lingerie shop was doing with only wrapping paper with footballers on, I shall never know. However we were there with the express purpose of picking up the first prize for a bingo competition which Ricardo was organising, for charity. I didn’t have the heart to ask him what would happen if the Bingo contestants weren’t all female and of the same size; as I distinctly heard the assistant explain that he would be unable to exchange it for another size. Later we visited Ricardo’s friend Marina, a 50+ hairdresser who is the girlfriend of a famous Texan around the world Cessna pilot. Apparently he doesn’t speak a word of Spanish, and she clearly didn’t speak any English. She said that she has a friend who speaks English who translates his love letters for her. I couldn’t help thinking that this language barrier may hinder the foundations of this (surely fictitious) relationship. She kindly invited me to dinner the next night at her house, but then later explained that it may be called off because her father isn’t in favour of recent English policies regarding Pinochet, and so he was against the idea of an Englishman entering his house. 

After a rather dull day exploring Punta Arenas’ Duty Free Shopping Zone, I bought a one way ticket to the Falklands, and then kissed the foot of the Indian. By doing this I guaranteed that I would return to Punta Arenas, hence it was a little silly to buy only a one way ticket to the Falklands, as I was bound to return. Back at Ricardo’s place we had his idea of an English tea, at 5.00pm which apparently we do. Tea consisted of  Earl Grey (good start), bread with jam and butter (almost crumpets), and cheese (way off). The final comestible was flan, which I have never had before at tea time, but perhaps it’s a new fashion at Buckingham Palace. Ricardo’s dad then gave me some rock-climbing carabinas – to prevent anything of mine being stolen. Again, not quite sure of the logic there. After tea we left by taxi for Marina’s house to have dinner. I was greeted by a 92 year old man with his top button done up, and his trousers up to his armpits, and when I stepped into their hallway he saluted me. So perhaps he did respect the English after all. Marina and her sister rushed out to buy potatoes, Ricardo transcribed the lyrics to Robbie William’s “Angels” in Spanish, and I tried to decipher some of the babblings of the old man. These sounds were often accompanied by odd movements that didn’t help the meaning. I gave up on this and looked around the room I was standing in which was the hall, living room, and dining room. The place was a shrine to this bizarre Texan pilot, photos of him in his plane, and with Marina, looking like he has no idea who is this mad female fan that is hugging him. 

Before dinner I took a picture of the old man holding a penguin shaped jug, whose beak was a spout. I commented on how amusing it was when it was pouring the red wine, like it was vomiting blood. They liked this, I’m not sure why, but I said I would look for one as a souvenir. Marina offered me the jug as a gift, I gratefully accepted. However when I discovered that Antonio, the strange old man, was exactly one year one month and a day older than my own grandfather, I said I would give it as peace offering between the elderly citizens of Chile, and those of England. By the end of the evening, after the penguin had vomited several times it’s own body weight in red wine Antonio began sharing his knowledge of English swear words with us all, and mustered up the courage to say “Bloody Bastard”.  Regretfully, I told him that it wasn’t actually considered that rude anymore.  We soon moved onto the subject of the Falklands: Antonio believes that there are many Chileans that work over there, which I can believe. However I can’t believe that all of them stutter, I just don’t know where he got that bit of information. Marina then remembered that she had a contact in the Falklands, and went around the back in search of his card. When she returned I read it; “Jon Butler, Criminal Investigations Department, Royal Falkland Islands Police” apparently she cut his hair about a year and a half ago when he visited Punta Arenas, so I planned to use that contact and see if he remembered his haircut.  At the end of the meal we, presumably customarily, all wore amusing hats. I wore a Basque country beret, Antonio wore a badly fitting cap of Marina’s “boyfriend’s” Cessna voyage, and the rest wore comedy sombreros. It was all a little bizarre. 

Finally we were allowed to leave, and it was emotional farewells all round, however I’m not sure why I deserved this sort of send off. Antonio was especially moved, and he hugged me as if he would never let go. So he liked the English after all. On the way home in the taxi Ricardo explained to me that a couple of years ago Marina’s mum (Antonio’s wife) had hung herself .                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Good old Ricardo, whose sexuality I was beginning to doubt, met me at my hostel two hours before the agreed time. After angrily getting out of bed, and hurriedly packing, I left the hostel to be drowned by gifts from Ricardo. Apart from the bunting he had prepared a remarkable send off for me.  He gave me a tape of a famous Mexican band (I gave him whatever was in my walkman at the time, as if I had planned it). Then a copy of Don Quixote de la Mancha, since we had discovered that uncannily I had a similar first name as Miguel de Cervantes, and that he had a similar surname: Stain. Apparently, Cervantes was left-handed as well, like both of us.  The coincidences were unending: I, like Cervantes, have two eyes that function, and Ricardo, like Don Quixote, is a fool. At a tacky souvenir shop I commented on how much I liked an old map of the Magellan Straight (portraying oversized locals, and Ostriches and other curious beasts. Today we are left with Richard Stain and a hairdresser). He insisted we rush home and get his copy of the same map, and gave it to me. Finally, when I thought there was nothing left for him to give me, we exchanged scarves, and I got on the bus, regretting having kissed the foot of the Indian. Knowing that I would return in a week made the whole dramatic farewell ceremony a little embarrassing. 

2. Stanley. 
The flight over the Magellen Straight was cloudless and beautiful, mercurial patterns of water etched into a featureless landscape, eventually evolving into an open expanse of sea. On the flight I met a young guy called Alex, who had bizarrely taken a job on board an Ecological survey boat as an engineer for four months. I suggested that he may need a great deal of books and pornography to keep him going for that time, to which he replied that he had already prepared for that eventuality. When we landed at Mount Pleasant Airbase, I was the only person to go through the non-military channel; it was not peak season for tourists. I had to wait for a while as the customs officials (who also run the only travel agency in town) found a B&B for me, since without a formal place of residence visitors are deported from the islands. On the bus to Stanley Alex and I were graced with the presence of a fifteen year old kid, who shall be called Mungo for the purposes of discussion. Mungo had just flown in from Chile where he had been for a week with ten other disadvantaged kids, and members of the social services. The trip was paid for by a local charity that helped them get off the islands for the first time in their lives. He has four brothers, one sister, two sisters-in-law, a niece, a nephew, and eyes slightly too far apart. His speech was a slurred mix of West Country and New Zealander. I was fascinated by his terrible dress sense and bizarre necklace, which I think was of a marijuana leaf. However the centrepiece also seemed to be integrated with what looked like a phallus. Until last week Mungo had never seen a train. Or a building with more than 3 storeys. Or a crowd with more than 200 people. Or a forest, or a cable-car. Or an elephant, or a giraffe. The last couple were a bit more of a surprise to me, that he had seen these animals in Chile. Of course he cleverly replied that he visited a zoo. However he couldn’t understand why there were so few Landrovers in Chile; he pitied their lack of four wheel drive vehicles. While Alex and I were discussing this, how incredible it seemed to us that Mungo hadn’t seen these things, he interupted us with the question:

 “But have you ever been gathering?”

 Obviously I said no, but I suppose that to him this was equally bizarre. I can’t remember exactly what is involved in the activity of gathering but I do recall that there was something about sheep, and that he enjoyed it immensely. He went on to describe the environment of the Falklands. “If you get lost and you don’t know what to eat you will die in a few days. Some school girls went out the other day an got lost in Camp (the countryside), and a search and rescue team come out and were on the job for three days.”

What happened to them? I was hoping to hear a Shackletonic tale of starvation, heroism and rescue. Instead: 

“They got lines.”

“What?”

“ Lines, you know,as a punishment for being stupid. I’ve still got lines to do for Mr. White. He always gives lines does Mr. White.”

“Why what did you do?”

“Well, he gave me this paper see, and I ripped it up in front of him and told him it was fucking bollocks.”

“Right. I see.”

“Course what I do, see, is write ‘I’ a hundred times down the page, an then ‘will’ a hundred times down the page, then ‘not’ a hundred times down the page...”

“I see.” 

Of course I didn’t: to him that was cheating, to me that was stupidity. What he had failed to realise was that by doing that he still writes out all the lines, just in a different order. And besides, what amazed me was how his mind leapt from the conversation topic of survival to that of his lines for Mr. White.

‘Then I write “ rip” a hundred times down the page. An’ then I write...Oh, look there’s a minefield. There are lots of them here. I never seen anyone been blown up by one though. And there old Mr. Duncan found a whale bone.’ 

Alex and I were then saved by an attractive woman from the social services 

‘Is he bothering you?’

 As she did so, someone asked if they could be dropped off outside the Co-op. I was back home. England. People being dropped off outside the co-op 8,000 miles from London. But first the driver dropped me off at Kay’s B&B, I promised I’d pay him the extortionate thirteen pound fare later when I had some money. 

‘O.K.’ he said, and with that he drove off. I don’t know if that was an act of naive trust, or one of generosity, but he never did see that thirteen quid. At Kay’s: I met Kay, the surprisingly-named owner of Kay’s . The slightly lanky, sixty-plus hostelry owner was dressed in comfortable but tasteless old-woman clothes, and spoke in a by now familiar West-Country/New Zealander accent. She beckoned me into the living room where she offered me a homely mix of PG tips and black current cake. She, like Mungo, hadn’t left the islands until recently, when she went to Oxford with her mother who needed medical treatment at the John Radcliffe Hospital.

‘How was it?’ I asked.

‘I hated it.’

‘Why?’

‘Well I didn’t know anyone, did I?’

 An odd reason for not liking my home town, but when you’ve only been surrounded by familiar faces all your life, I suppose it makes sense. She then embarked on a potted history of the Falklands War, and as she was rounding it up Tony and Ailsa arrived. Kay had stayed at their house; Estancia during the war, along with about ten others from Stanley. Ailsa reminded me of Ma Larkin, (from the Darling Buds of May), but with a New Zealander accent. And Tony reminded me of a West-Country Father Jack (from Father Ted), with a slightly larger vocabulary than ‘Drink’ and ‘Girls’ , that included ‘Sheep’ and ‘Tractors’ . They had come from Estancia, 16 miles away, for the celebration of a wedding. Weddings are a big thing here, since everyone knows everyone else, the whole of Stanley (almost all of the Falklands) gets into the Town Hall for a knees-up. Hundreds of people means hundreds of presents. Ailsa still hasn’t taken some of hers out of their boxes, after 25 years. Births too are big, Ailsa still has lots of baby things, that she just passes on occasionally. Tony, on my request, gave me a quick debriefing on world affairs as I had been out of touch for a while. Then he told me of his most recent (and only) visit to England, two years ago, when he attended a 3 Paratroop regiment Falklands reunion in Aldershot. His brother drove him around Somerset: 

‘Which was shit. Like the rest of that country. You can’t bloody see anything, too many trees and bushes in the way.’

 Something I hadn’t thought of as one of the greatest problems with England, but a reasonable answer given that here, the only trees and bushes are those planted in people’s back gardens. The highlight of his trip was visiting the JCB factory, actually seeing where the great machines came from. He didn’t go to London, or any other big city as far as I could tell, perhaps the number of people may have scared him. Tony then gave me a lift to the post office, I still don’t know why he wanted me to come with him. Walking from his Landrover to the Post Office we met 3 people, all of whom greeted Tony and then looked at me strangely. 

In the bare post office there were around 1000 little red doors in the walls, where the islanders pick up their mail from, the island is too small to warrant its own postal service. Apart from that, the only other items in the room were two sets of leaflets, one explaining how wonderful the British Antarctic Survey team was (this being one of the few reasons that the islands are retained at vast expense by the British Government) and the other advertising the annual Pub Quiz in the Town Hall on Wednesday night.

 Back at Kay’s I took a bath and prepared for a night out on the town in Stanley. The Globe pub, Stanley, 8.00 Saturday night. The few people who were there were male, and were all sitting at one table. Squaddies. Apart from one guy who was sitting at the bar next to me, who appeared to be a local: and was in fact a Dutch sailor. The locals knew to stay at home. Soon a drunken army lad who was ordering drinks said I should join his boys. I hesitantly walked over to the table of fifteen or so, and introduced myself. In no time the famous British Forces banter was flying, and the guy who had invited me over was being asked if he picked me up at the bar. After the requisite gay jokes had dried out, I got chatting with Max and Buster. I asked them why there were 2,300 squaddies looking after this land of 1,600 local people. 

‘Out of spite. We can’t hand it over to the Argies now even if we had wanted to.’ Quipped Buster. It transpired through Max, who seemed be slightly more switched on than the rest of them, that the islands main industry was fishing, and since the creation of a zone of a 30 mile radius around the coast of the Falklands, entry into, or fishing in which costs a sum of money. Consequently around 30 millionaires live in Stanley. Also the islands are potentially sitting on a large oil field, one exploration rig was set up in ‘98, which may be lucretively tapped in a few years. And without the islands it would be very difficult to retain a foothold in the Antarctic, an area again with increasing importance, especially if mining is permitted in the future. And with regards to the military base, it’s purpose is more for exercise than for defence. It is Britain’s best flying training zone, and it has the largest live firing range in the world, and is Britain’s only Tri-Service base. However it does cost the U.K around 1.5 million a day. This is however only a tiny percentage of the defence budget. Apparently. So, surprisingly there were some convincing arguments for the retention of the Falklands. 

We drank up and moved on to Deano’s. All of them were pretty slaughtered by now, since they had been drinking spirits all night (as none are available on the base). I chatted to Mick for a while, and Swampmonster, so called as he was always the most drunk out of all of them. Worryingly however he was also their driver. The banter wasn’t big or clever, but it was amusing. I took the brunt of most of the jokes, because I had been the one stupid enough to pay money to come out to this desolate wasteland in the middle of nowhere. They, on the other hand, have chalk tallies on their walls counting down the days until they return to Blighty. The group staggered back to the Globe where there was a dance floor and many more drunken squaddies. It was all going off: no one could hear a word that anyone was saying, and everyone was dancing without rhythm to some meaningless pop beat. Stupidly I was drinking out of a bottle in the middle of this carnage. Consequently it wasn’t long before an elbow caught my bottle and hence chipped my tooth. Outside the pub I said goodbye to Mick, who drunkenly gave me his number and offered to put me up in Mount Pleasant for the night, as well as sort out a helicopter ride for me to get over to the West Island. He soon disappeared into a mess of revellers, and as he did so a fight kicked off behind me. 

Someone had been glassed, and as he lay bleeding on the floor, his mates began laying into the attacker and his mates. As far as I could tell. However the police, who had been expectantly waiting outside the globe for the last hour or so, swiftly cuffed people and threw them into the back of the van. It was in this most unlikely of circumstances that I was formerly introduced to Jon Butler of the Royal Falkland Islands Police Force, and I showed him an old business card of his that I had been given by Marina, the Punta Arenan hairdresser. He was a little bemused, but agreed to a meeting the next day at 1.00 in the station. 

3. The Royal Falkland Islands Police. 
Of course that night the clocks changed for the Falklands spring. This meant that Camp time (the time they use in the farms around the islands) and Town time (the time in Stanley) were now different. They had previously been the same, and now the Town had moved their clocks one hour forward. Probably for the sole purpose of confusing me. So when I came downstairs at 11.55, Kay was in fact right in saying:

‘You don’t have long to get to the station’, as I didn’t have a leisurely hour to eat breakfast and sort out my hangover, but five minutes to run to the station. How she knew what time I was meant to meet Jon Butler I don’t know, but the local folk seem to know everything about everyone, and I didn’t have time to ask her as I sped out the door to the police station. I met Detective Sergeant Jon Butler in the foyer of Police Headquarters, Ross Road, Stanley. He invited me into his office, where the first thing I noticed about his office, apart from the many certificates of excellence, was a large tub of Vaseline and two rolls of toilet paper sitting on top of the filing cabinet over his left shoulder. I put an enduring image out of my mind, and agreed to a cup of coffee and a cigarette. I opened with a Partridge-style corker: 

‘So, tell me about the job. The C.I.D. of the Falkland Islands can’t be the busiest place in the world. Is there any crime here at all?’ Obviously he swiftly replied that in fact it was a very interesting and rewarding job. And he actually produced a convincing argument. The previous night for example was the first time in a while that he had actually been out on the beat with the boys, and he had made five arrests. Saturday night outside The Globe apparently is often a trouble spot. Since the soldiers can only come into town on a Saturday to drink heavily, and since there are only three pubs in Stanley and the others close earlier than the Globe, the obvious conclusion is that, on a Saturday night it always ends in tears outside the Globe. Apart from the occasional drunken G.B.H. cases like those, there are a few robberies, suicides and human rights issues. Understandably car theft isn’t particularly common, as there is nowhere to take the cars to, or anyone to sell them to. However last Christmas when Jon was out on the beat with the boys again, he chased a stolen car. Not Starsky and Hutch stuff, but makes for a more entertaining Christmas afternoon than the Sound of Music. 

Robbery cases are often quickly solved either because of natural keen neighbourhood watch schemes, or because of extreme stupiditiy. For example a young lad was working in the post office, and he had a real passion for stamps. So when he was entrusted with the keys to the safe for some task or other, he took the opportunity to steal two thousand pounds worth of stamps. He was surprised when he was asked in for questioning the next day, but having a passion for stamps, and being the only other person, apart from the post master-general to be in possession of these keys, he soon admitted to having them at home. Quite what he was expecting to do with these is inexplicable, 500 postcards sent by the same person may have aroused a little suspicion too.

Deaths also occur, ranging from the stupid to the odd. Recently there was a death in Mount Pleasant of a guy who had lost all the skin on his back, and was covered in bruises. Amusingly though, the other six people who were in the room at the time of death said they didn’t know what had happened. The case did get labelled ‘Suspicious’, and eventually the other lads admitted to playing a drunken game of mess rugby, a vicious game that is banned in the base, because, like this case for instance, it does tend to get out of hand. There was also a suicide a few years back when a guy parked his guy by a scenic coastal beauty spot, opposite another car. In the other car were the witnesses: two young women who saw the man drink heartily from an orange juice carton. With a smile on his face, he stopped drinking and lit a match. He exploded; as he had in fact been drinking gasolene. 

Previously Jon had trained for 5 year in Forensics, in England. He stopped when eventually he’d just had enough of death. And his partner had just killed himself. He was found in his car having taken an overdose, and Jon was required to go and investigate it. The most rewarding cases here, however are those of the human rights issues. A few months ago, 7 Vietnamese, the crew of a Korean fishing vessel, jumped into the water in Stanley harbour. They trod water for 20 minutes before being rescued, narrowly avoiding death by hypothermia since the water is around one degree Celsius all year round. One was found with a broken forearm, that hadn’t been treated properly, and had set at right angles. Others had been severely beaten. The captain was fined two thousand pounds, which was divided up amongst the men, and he was locked up for a while, and fined another seven thousand dollars on return to his home country. After their rescue the crew spent a week following Jon around thanking him. 

After three hours of conversation, we went in search of a Danish boat captain. I was hoping to get a lift on this back to the mainland, and Jon needed to question him about the drunken behaviour of one of his men the previous night. When we found him, he explained to me that he hadn’t been told where his next port of call would be, and Jon interviewed him in the van and got him to sack the offending crew member. Jon dropped me back off at Kay’s where I finally managed to overcome the miserable hangover in front of the BBC news with a cup of tea. Lovely. 

4. Estancia House

Having seen as much of Stanley as is humanly possible in the morning, i.e.: the church and all three shops, I discovered that a return flight to Punta Arenas would cost me the grand sum of two hundred and thirty nine pounds. This apparently was cheap, although it was only a one-hour flight. There are very few other flights that leave Mount Pleasant Airport (MPA) that cost less than six hundred pounds. They just don’t want people to leave. Well, why would they? It costs them millions of pounds a week to keep the place habitable, it would be a bit of a waste if the inhabitants left at the first opportunity. Which they would probably do if they could afford it. However, in response to this complaint, the government has a scheme that kindly pays all Falklanders one pound a day, which they can use for travel. Given that a flight back to the U.K., which is where most of them want to go, costs something in the region of one thousand six hundred pounds, most would have to save for around five years. 

One of the plethora of shops in Stanley was called Pastimes. Appropriately the contents of this shop appeared to sum up the possible pastimes that one can indulge in on the islands. For it mostly contained Action Man toys - for those that want to play soldiers (half of those that live there), and top-shelf gentlemen’s art pamphlets - for those that having nothing to do (all of those who live there). I returned to Kay’s where she lavished me again with tea and cake, and proudly showed me a recent travel book that described her as a “gaunt chain smoker”. Which was about right. Except he left out the word “miserable”. 

Soon Nairie arrived, the 20-year-old daughter of Tony and Ailsa. She gave me a lift to her house, Estancia, in the middle of nowhere, no other buildings in sight, the two nearest being 8 miles in either direction. On the way she explained that she had spent the past few days in Stanley tallying squid. As one does. As I remember “Squid Tallying” was not available in Pastimes, but I think it is a board game. A well paid board game at that, which she played for the last 24 hours between 7am and 7am down at the docks with some Spanish sailors. She, like her father, had only recently been to England, and like her father thought that the main problem with the country was that there were “too many bloody trees”. Apart from disliking my home country she seemed very genial, mature and amicable. However, when we arrived at Estancia House, nestled at the base of Mount Kent, and when we she began speaking to her parents, she turned into a she-beast. She had suddenly lost five years of cerebral maturity, and began swearing and arguing with everything her parents said. Ailsa just got on with baking things while Tony laughed at her, and then coughed severely. She was finally put in her place with an unforgettable quip of Tony’s. On the subject of tallying squid, an area of expertise which sadly I lack, the argument centred around whether or not it would be better to store the Squid on pallets, or somesuch. Because Nairie had been working in the company of squid for the past few days, she appeared to think she knew best. Tony however finally settled the matter by ascertaining that he had been “working with fishing boats since before your arsehole was no bigger than a button”. A remarkable expression, I’m not sure what had happened to Nairie’s arsehole to make it larger than a button. But Tony personally knows that its size is no longer negligible. A character called Phil, who had just arrived, lord only knows from where or why, joined me in fits of hysterics while we watched Nairie seethe. Ailsa, who had been busy packing buns or something, told them both sternly to calm down. The wonderfully curt and obstreperous child that Nairie had now become, simply told her to “Fuck off”, and with that she left the house. Tony, mean while just kept laughing and coughing in the corner. No one seemed to notice that Nairie had left and the conversation moved to on to parts of generators for a while, and then the use of matchsticks in re-tiling of the kitchen. Often they used terms that I had never heard of, and they always used names of people I had never heard of, apart from D.S. Butler. Some things were funny, some things upset them but I had no idea why. They may as well have been speaking a different language. I was going to ask who so and so was, or what such and such was, but soon the conversation moved onto pipes, wool prices and squidding. Tony then began laughing again, which included a particularly unhealthy coughing fit (even though he has never smoked in his life-apparently), and as he was dying, Phil just got up and left. Just like that. In response to this Tony thought it was about time to get the chickens in. He scuttled around the garden in his boiler suit and comedy woolly hat, laughing uproariously and coughing simultaneously, and it was then that I realised why the soldiers called them Bennies, as he should have been on the Benny Hill show. He moved the chicks into the, what could only be called, conservatory, where he proudly showed them to me and laughed at them. “Most of them ‘ll be dead soon. Ha ha ha ha, (cough, cough, cough)”. He then took me around some of the sheds on his estate. The wind generator shed, the solar power shed, and the abattoir shed. “You trap it’s head in this gate, see, and slit its throat. Mind it don’t kick you though. Then we gut it, and cut it up on this here band saw.” He pointed to a band saw that looked just like one in my school woodwork-shop. “It’s normally for wood yes, but those bloody New Zealand saws, for hygiene an’ that, cost a bloody fortune.” He cut off a piece of a leg that happened to be hanging from the ceiling next to him, and said we’d have a curry tonight. 

Back inside the house, while Ailsa was outside painting a blackboard, Tony received a phone call. “Hello…Yes…Brassiere…Ailsa…Yes…Goodbye”. And that’s honestly all he said. Apparently, he told his wife, it was her mother. However before she had time to question this blatant lie (why did the woman not want to speak to her own daughter, and why did Tony say the word Brassiere accompanied by his wife’s name to her) – Ailsa noticed that the kitchen was full of smoke. Her sponge cakes, that she had been working on all day, were ruined. She slapped Tony around the face with a tea towel and swore at him. Tony looked at me with a cheeky schoolboy grin and a hand over his mouth: “At least I didn’t put more peat in!”  And with that he laughed, and coughed. And Ailsa swore. 

Whilst they were arguing I took the opportunity to tour their living room. There were many Military shields, of different regiments, and photos of Tony at formal affairs in the Eighties, with Prince Philip, Princess Anne, and Margaret Thatcher. There a great one of him at the back of a crowd, with Maggie at the front, peaking his tiny face with its Father Jack toothy grin and red nose, covered by long, thinning hair and completed with a fantastic white Eighties large-lapelled linen suit. An old shell was used to hold umbrellas, and the mantelpieces and shelves were full of an assortment of tacky porcelain or electric ornaments that others may buy as a joke. The humdrum of the kitchen had settled down, and the three of us gathered around a small radio on the kitchen table as the curry was cooking. First up was a country and western show, which Tony hated ‘It’s all bloody (accompanied by an American drawl) “I found God in the saddle one day”. Bloody yanks’ He was right of course, the show was a frontispiece for an evangelical preaching. Fortunately spirits were lifted when the time came for the weekly Falklands Trivia Quiz, where “Inbred Hillbillies” played “Small Gene Pool”. Unsurprisingly Tony and Ailsa knew all 8 contestants. I found most of the quiz a little tricky, as I was not a Falklander, or a regular reader of the “Penguin News”, their weekly paper that contained no news, but would sound ridiculous simply called “Penguin”. The first question wasn’t so tricky:

“What annual local event is due to take place at the Globe Tavern?” Tony and Ailsa got this one straightaway: “The Pram race” – I was kicking myself. 

“Which three positions were discussed in a recent government meeting:” Obviously the answer was:

“Governor, Attorney General, and Commander of the British forces”. 

An easy one for most of us was: “Name 2 out of the three founding members of the Falkland Island Cricket Association.” I easily got “Roger Diggle and “Steven Tursley”, but I just couldn’t remember the third. Of course it was “Derek Reeves”. Tony was kicking himself too about not remembering Derek’s involvement either.  The name of the farm that is selling trout licences this season was also on the tip of my tongue. 


I thought I may have a little luck with the general knowledge round. But unfortunately it was a little ungeneral. “What year was safety glass invented? 1905, 1935, or 1966”. In case you were wondering 1905 was the year they were looking for. Excitingly it ended up being a tiebreak, and it was the final. Unexcitingly their prize was a Falklands Fm T-shirt.  

Then came the news. Or lack of it. All highly forgettable apart from the fact that they mentioned the brawl outside the globe on Saturday night. They spent the remaining half of the news discussing the wedding that took place on Saturday too: what the bride was wearing, who altered the dress. What the groom, best man, bridesmaids were wearing, and what were their names, and ages. Fortunately they didn’t list the names, attire and ages of the entire congregation as well. The only reason I can think of for going into this much detail about the wedding was that it may be a round in next weeks quiz. 

The news finished off with public notices, including the new location and time of the gun-club meeting. “Everyone must turn up, or phone Graham 21622, or Edgar 21828.” Then the Archers, which was less interesting than the news, as the plot centred on finding an entire cast for the Mikado. We retired to the living room to ingest more news, this time from ITN. On an article about police shortages, including footage of a stabbing in the Notting Hill Carnival, Tony wisely commented “At least its blacks killing blacks! (giggle giggle, cough, cough)” On another programme later there was a black poet on the London Underground. I’m not sure what he meant by “Nigger on the woodpile. Nigger” – although I think Ailsa did. “I wish you wouldn’t carry on like that. Our daughters carrying one of their children”.  Tony replied “Nigger”. The next programme, the start of a soap opera, the ever sharp and politically correct Tony said of an attractive woman walking down a street: “She’d get a portion!”.  The mutton curry was ready at last, and beforehand Tony kindly phoned Mel (apparently very odd), at Swan Inlet, to see if he could put me up tomorrow night. He began the conversation with “Lloyd, (although I had thought his name was Mel) Are they hatched yet?” I could have been mistaken if I had thought he was referring to some chickens, but of course he was actually talking about a mare giving birth to foles. 

The next morning I discussed the farm over breakfast with Ailsa, while Tony was outside fixing something. We were waiting for the phone lines to come on, as we couldn’t leave for Mel’s without knowing when the Ghurkhas were due to arrive. They were due to yomp from Fitzroy overnight to come and dig a trench for Tony, as they often do apparently,  – in return for biscuits and a whole sheep. Apparently they know what to do with it, as the last entry in their visitor book will testify. From Sirgit Rhinin “Thanks for the biscuits and the sheep.”

Ailsa and I got chatting about the war: Ailsa got out some photos that someone form 3 Para sent a couple of months ago, and a book called “The War in Pictures” by the Daily Express, presumably for those who have difficulty reading.  Ailsa explained that Estancia was an important strategic point for the Paras, before the main assault on Stanley.  Not only did Tony and Ailsa harbour 12 civvies, (Kay being one of them) but also around 600 soldiers. One bedroom was a hospital, and the shed in the garden was a tactical operations centre. The Paras had arrived there overland from Port San Carlos, a hell of a long way away, after what was called “The longest march”. I asked Tony, who had been sitting through this quietly fiddling with my camera, “So this place was very important during the war. You must have been proud?” He poignantly replied; “Yeah. I suppose so. Anyway I must go and look at those tyres”. And with that he left. Ailsa then showed me her schoolbook from the sixties. There was an essay entitled “What will the Falklands be like in 100 years time”. She explained that there would be an airport. With at least two planes a day. Black and white T.V: Though probably not colour. Better roads. More people in general, and something about wool prices which I didn’t understand. Obviously no mention of war, Argie control or difficult radio quizzes. 

As we drove away from Estancia Ailsa pointed out stone runs, bizarre geological formations that no one can explain. And Tony described the battlefield before us. Mount Longdon; the Para’s objective, and the Twin Sisters, the Marines objective. He also described how after the troops from 3 Para captured Mount Longdon, an Argie fighter plane flew over the next day and killed 23 paratroopers, leaving 14 wounded. On the way to Swan Inlet we went to Fitzroy, where we visited Ninh, who gave us a cuppa a spoke about wool prices, pipes and people I had never heard of.  Then we went to a shearing shed to look for toilet parts. Tony really needed this piece of piping; he was even searching in a wool shed. I could have told him he would have little luck. At Mount Pleasant Tony had to collect some plastic bins, but before doing so we went to the NAAFI and bought some “Feast” ice creams. Even though it was snowing outside. We drove round the back of a “Rubby” – a rubber shed, and picked up the bins from a young officer who appeared as confused as I was about why we should need these bins. He also expressed disbelief at my stupidity of flying out here of my own will. A quarter of an hour later we arrived at Mel’s, who unfortunately wasn’t as odd as Tony had previously suggested. 

5. Swan Inlet.
Mel was a nice farmer, who had enough of bureaucracy. His wife Val said nothing for the whole time that I knew them all. She was scared of something. His son Chris was of the strong and quiet type, who was going out with Karen, their daughter. 

As far as I could tell. She probably isn’t though, but it would have fulfilled all the squaddy myths and legends about the islanders. She called Mel and Val, Mum and Dad, and she looked about 16. Mel (or “Lloyd” as Tony liked to call him) took Tony (or “Diver” as Mel liked to call him) and the rest of us on a tour of his whacky farm that was full of odd, broken and seemingly useless objects. His pride and joy however was his new bar. Mel’s farm, like Tony’s was some distance from the middle of nowhere, and the closest form of habitation was Mount Pleasant itself. Which has about 5 bars on site. So I was at a loss as to why any one would come to Mel’s bar, an endearing little Portakabin though it was. Tony and Ailsa left, and I found myself in a new group of Bennies. In no time Mel was discussing the Market economy with me while I and the rest of the family watched the television. 

That evening we all piled into the land rover for a family outing (for I was one of them now) to MPA, to have a night out. Which apparently they do once a month, although I couldn’t help thinking that they would have to have done this a little more regularly to break up the monotonous isolated boredom. On the way there, Mel explained to me that the bizarre accent, the New Zealand twang, comes from a third generation Welsh, Scottish, Irish and English mix, hence its appearance in countries that were colonised by the British around two hundred years ago, like New Zealand. An interesting theory, and slightly more interesting than the ensuing conversation about the problems with farming in today’s Falklands. At MPA Chris and I went bowling, and here I met a fruit machine repair man with whom I had sang songs with down St John’s Street in Stanley on Saturday night.

 “Alright mate,” I ventured.

“Yeah thanks”, the fruit machine repairman replied. 

“Do you remember me? I met you in Stanley on Saturday night.”

“No”

“That’s probably because you were hammered”. 

His mates found that funny, while I found myself with Chris, who, like his mother, lacked the ability to speak. However he still beat me at bowls. After the game we hurried through to the Mount Pleasant Cinema Complex. A big room. Where we saw “The Chicken Run”, Nick Park’s new Wallace and Gromit spin-off. It was entertaining, but it didn’t hold my attention as well as the three children in the row in front of me who had all been provided with a litre of Sunny Delight each by their sixteen-year-old mother. Although they weren’t tied to their seats it was a miracle that they were not ricocheting off the walls of the Mount Pleasant Cinema Complex. 

The journey home was in silence as “Mad Mel” (as Tony had dubbed him) was lacking in craziness, and when we arrived at “Swan I.” Chris proudly mentioned that he had hired some films from MPA. The first, Lone Sheriff, was not in fact Lone Sheriff, but an equally bad film called The Zone or something. We were prevented from watching this movie (which featured the unknown Rob Rascowski, “star of some vaguely famous film”), by Val who spoke for the first time since records began: “I’ve seen this one.” From this I figured that they must all have a lot of spare time on their hands or, the Mount Pleasant video club has a very small supply of videos. Probably both. So we settled down in front of “Dusk Till Dawn II – The Texas Blood Hunt” - sequel to the popular and successful Tarantino and Rodriguez flick, “Dusk Till Dawn”. Unfortunately Quentin Tarantino and Robert Rodriguez had as much to do with “Dusk Till Dawn II – The Texas Blood Hunt”, as Emperor Tiberius of Rome. Val hadn’t “seen this one” too, but she went to bed anyway. As did Mel. I decided to join them, not literally of course, I’ll leave that for their children. Chris however stayed up, not wanting to lose face over a video choice as bad as “Schindler’s List” at a Barmitzphar. When he thought the rest of us were asleep, he crept upstairs. Ten minutes after we had done.

The next morning I was awoken by Mel’s shouts. I’m not sure whether they were directed at me, or in frustration at his mute wife. Within a few minutes we had got into two cars and were heading for Stanley. I was in Mel’s car, with whom I had, wholly unexpectedly, embarked on a long chat about the state of the farming industry in the Falklands. The conclusion, as I had already gathered from some of his previous rants was “buggered”. However the situation was interestingly summed up by a short but to the point article in that week’s Penguin News. It read simply “DIVERSIFICATION: Consequence or Solution?” That is to say, are the farmers forced to diversify, for example hire out horses, like Mel, or chase chickens and mend tyres like Tony, or bake cakes like Ailsa, as a consequence of new bureaucracy enforced on the islanders? Or because it is a solution to a decline in market demand. Perhaps not so interestingly was Mel’s explanation to the decline in the price of wool. “The worst time in the history of the Falkland Island was in 1985 when the iron curtain came down, and European countries as well as Russia vastly cut their military strength, and hence uniform requirements. And hence wool demand from the Falklands.” It’s quite a leap, and to say that that was more severe than a war that killed hundreds of people a few years previously, shows the extent of Mel’s feeling about the situation. He predicts that in the future the Falklands will have no more farms, and instead will be a huge nature reserve, with the farmers working as wardens. With only 325 people who actually work in Camp (i.e.: anywhere outside Stanley), it is not surprising that something has to be done about the rather dire state of Falklands farming. 

Mel dropped me off outside the Woodbine Café, where we were due to meet in an hour, while I decided to buy the extortionately priced ticket back to the mainland. In the mean time, I wandered around the church and the three shops of Stanley, and looked in on Pastimes to see if they had “Squid Tallying”. I empty-handedly returned to the Woodbine to purchase a portion of fish and chips. Chris and Karen came in and later gave me a lift out to Gypsy cove to try and find some Gentoo Penguins, as I had commented that I hadn’t actually seen any wildlife, apart from Tony, since being on the Islands. Obviously we didn’t find any penguins, but Chris did have a chance to show off his great off-roading skills. Off-roading is an absurd notion in the U.K.: you just don’t ever need to; for if you are ever off a road, then you are either drunk or extremely lost. In the Falklands however it is, as Chris so magically put it, “a way of life”. But like the U.K, he really didn’t need to go off road. The Penguin spot was a further 20 metres from the track, a distance which even Steven Hawkins could have walked. On leaving Stanley, we filled a trailer full of old fruit and vegetables for the pigs. Which later we dropped off back at Swan I. I left some washing with Val, as I didn’t think she’d be able to verbalise a complaint, and said goodbye to Mel, as Chris and Karen drove me to Goose Green to meet my next contact, the ‘Mad’ – as Mel had said, Paul Ford. Of course I knew not to get my hopes up about his madness. 

6: Goose Green I
He welcomed us into his humble home, a gale beaten bungalow, that may even once have housed a family. At present though, it had been sheltering Paul and a few cans of McEwans Red for the last few months. The other bedraggled shacks around the village now house what’s left of the Goose Green population: 18 sheep shearers/farm-hands. In the old days, when Paul was born here, and brought up as a kid here, there were more in the region of 300 people in roughing it in this windswept south atlantic community. Paul left however when he was eleven, not surprising when he had been held hostage for a month by the Argentinians in the town hall. 

Within minutes of arriving Buzz came lumbering into the room. Paul had told Buzz, unfairly, that I was a female student from Chile. He did so to see if Buzz would come round as soon as he heard the car pull up – this he did, even though he doesn’t normally come into Paul’s house. This is because Paul and Buzz never really got on. And this was probably due to the fact that Buzz is a psychopath, who (on several occasions) attacked Paul and other workers with a bolt gun: threatening to kill them all. 

Buzz was sent to a shrink. The shrink said he was fine. More than that in fact: “that he was in fact the most normal person living at goose green.”. I shuddered to think what Paul may do to me in my sleep that night. 

When Buzz showed his dissappointed face around the door-frame, I soon saw that it was resting on boiler-suited shoulders, and protected by a Benny Hill style woolly hat. Another Benny. He proudly entered the room with a bread-maker in his arms. I stood up to greet him: “Hi, I’m Mike – I would shake your hand but...”. I began to say “you’re carrying a bread-maker”, but Buzz finished the sentence off for me instead with, “My hands are muddy”.

Buzz spoke for a while in a slightly slurred confued and idiotic manner until Chris fortunately made our excuses to leave. So we left Buzz jibbering to himself, and we went to the sheep shed.  Here Chris embarked on his job: shooting 30 sheep in the head with a .22 revolver. He didn’t waste any time, I was just outside behind them, when I heard; Bang “One”. Bang “Two” – and so on. It was quick and easy although some had to be shot a couple of times to make sure. Paul suggested that I had a go, and Chris reluctantly handed the gun over to me. 

Just my luck. There was only one orund left in the chamber, so I played russian roulette with the sheeps life: until, after pulling the trigger to a click five times, I finally shot him in the face on the sixth. 

A hatch door was slid across and the sheep were hurled out onto the trailer by the modern sheperd-girl Karen. The door was closed, and Paul shouted: “Next”, - like we were in a doctors surgery. The gate was opened, and the pen was filled with another ten sheep. Bang “Eleven”. Bang “Twelve. Come here you fucker.” Bang “Thirteen”. By the end the trailer was full of ovine carcasses many of which were still twitching. And with that, I watched the large mound of bloody fleeces bounce off down the track, and turned to Paul. He peered at me from under his bushy eyebrows, and, saying nothing, made me realise how I was in the most desolate place on earth next to a man with a bolt gun. The wind picked up again.  In Goose Green no-one can hear you scream. 

My fears soon subsided when Pauls glares were replaced with a look of generousity, as he handed me another “Red” by the bar fire in the living room. Meanwhile he was cooking supper, - a few chicken legs in a dish, which he later covered with Dolmio. A complicated recipe which required the help of his new fiancee, who he phoned for advice. We sat and drank and discussed the life of a modern-day shepherd. 

He plans to take his skills abroad, and shear in New Zealand, South Africa, U.K, Italy and Norway (which I didn’t know even had sheep). 

He’s soon going to purchase a new set of shears, for £1100. He showed me his old set, 2 clippers, a few blades, combsand a brush. Someone’s being ripped off- and I didn’t have the heart to tell Paul it was him. 

We then went over to 8-Steps’ house. 8 Steps is so called because he is supposedly 8 steps behind every one else. However Paul was unsure as to why it was specifically 8 steps, (why not seven?) Nor did he know why this name was given to Chris, a surprisingly fast thinker.

Chris had been working in the Falklands for 14 years or so, but he’s not a true Benny. He flies home to the U.K. every winter to help his family out. He’s in his early thirties – and he lives in this shithole, and was extremely badly kempt. His house is a mess, but he doesn’t smoke or drink. He escapes the extraordinary tedium by surrounding himself with entertainment; video games, books, star wars audio tapes, and a remarkable collection of  blue movies. Which is surprising given that he is a self-confessed virgin. Perhaps because his favourite film is star-wars. And because evidence of this can be seen all round his bungalow. 

The soap opera, Emmerdale Farm, came on the T.V. At every line of dialogue 8-Steps laughed nervously, whilst explaining to me that “that bird there is shagging that fella, while he’s shagging her there..”And so on. I’m sure most of these relationships were invented by his onanismically-addled brain. I didn’t understand it, but at least I tried. Paul meanwhile was drinking from his red, and smoking expressionlessly in the corner. 

Soon a game show came on and this was where 8-Steps demonstrated the inappropriateness of his name. He answered many questions right, and did surprisingly well on the “Carry-On film” round. He had absorbed a lot of knowledge in his lifetime. After the game show he leant me a couple of photo-books about the Falklands. Not an avid reader, he admitted that the few words made the war easier to understand. Paul and I went back to Paul’s bungalow, via the store keeper, Billy-the-Kid. As far as I could tell Billy didn’t operate a bonus-card scheme, but given Pauls daily order of two packs of cigarettes, a bottle of Lamb’s rum, and a crate of McEwan’s Red, the number of saver-points he could have amassed may have bought him a villa on the Algarve. 

The drink was washed down in silence with dolmioed chicken legs and burnt chips. 

We trudged round to Willy’s house after dinner. As we walked to the front door Paul and I looked throgh the window to see Willy, a fifty year old farm hand, sitting in an armchair in the corner of the room, staring blankly ahead. He could have been watching television, but when we entered the room it wasn’t on. He was just staring at the wall. 

A single bare light bulb swung from the ceiling when Paul closed the door from the draught. The room was empty apart from a T.V. and video,  and an armchair in the corner, complete with Willy. Above him there was a shelf of  around 10 books, and next to him were two chairs and the peat-stove. He was expecting us. 

I got Willy talking about the U.K. He confessed that he, like Kay, Tony and Ailsa, hated England. His reason was equally remarkable:

“Are there too many trees, cars, people? What is it?”

“Neah – Flowers. Too many of those little fuckers.” Wordsworth would never have used that metaphor. 

However he admitted that he didn’t like not knowing anyone there. Especially the crowd of people he saw at heathrow airport; the largest number of people he had ever seen in one place.  I then commented on Willy’s fetching Scotland sweatshirt, complete with large thistle. He explained his parents were from there, and that the only time he’d been away from the Falklands was when he’d spent 5 months in the Shetland islands. I don’t know why he travelled 12,000 miles for a barren desolate sheep ridden island. But then again, I was beginning to think, why had I?

Willy left me to my thoughts, while Paul got up to make us all “Hot Totties”, rum, with hot water and sugar. When he sat down again the two of them went off on a conversation about fencing and gathering.

As the rum sank in, and their conversation became more unintelligeable, my attention was elsewhere. However it suddenly came back when they mentioned Buzz. They were talking about his remarkable propensity to bullshitting. Apparently Buzz had claimed he once “kept going for three and a half hours”. 

“That’s bollocks” denied Willy

 “You’d be man enough to keep it going for 20 minutes. Buzz would have to have some sort of a problem if he couldn’t come until three and a half hours into the job.”

 I refrained from mentioping Sting’s tantric abilities at this point. 

“He’d have to be whattzit?”

“Impotent?” Paul ventured. 

“Sting?” I confused him.

“No, no, whattsit called. You know Paul, they said it in that film.”

“What film?”

“The one in the video now. It’s another one of 8-Steps’.”

I looked in the video recorder – sure enough there was a video in there. It had “Brotherhood of the gun” scrawled in childish writing on the side. I pressed play. It was, as I had suspected, pornography. Pornography set in space. 

“No, you’ve got to rewind it. Here. I’ll show you. He got out of his chair for the first time. After five hot totties he was staggering. He came over to the video player and struggled with the buttons. “It’s back a bit”. It appeared he couldn’t press the buttons after all. 

“I’ll do it”  I volunteered.

“You’ve got to get it back to the black and white bit...”

“Christ. How often have you watched this film?” I said, rewinding the tape. 

“A few.” Willy replied. 

“What about you Paul?”

“Just the once” Paul said, who offered a sideways glance to Willy and sniggered. 

It was when Willy was returning to his chair that the light caught his face properly. It was gaunt and weathered. His eyes appeared vacant, addled by a restricted diet of rum and masturbation. 

I pressed play. The black and white bit had just finished, and I returned to my seat by the peat-stove. Willy began explaining the plot to me, in all seriousness. A man on earth tmepted women to go to bed with him (I’m not sure how: he looked like a moustachioed banana republic revolutionary) and when they asked him for sex he beamed them up to his spaceship of topless women. Not the most convincing or exciting of plots. But then again, they never are. Apparently. 

The story failed to hold the attention of the two modern shepherds: soon they reverted to their original conversation of fencing and gathering. I followed the incongruous film storyline with more ease than I would have had following their slurred but rapid conversation about fencing and gathering. Five minutes later Paul insisted that we should go home. I think he had given up trying to understand Willy – I most certainly had given up trying to understand the film. I now felt like I was beginning to understand the life of the modern shepherd. And so with a head full of rum and pornographic images, I phoned my mum for the first time in four months. This was a joke on Paul’s behalf; he had advised the phone call knowing full well that it was five thirty in the morning in England. 

I safely got into my room. Unlike Paul who walked into his door: 

Crash. “Bollocks. Door. Light. Night Mike.”

7. Goose Green II
The next day, I woke at five in the morning to find my retinas burning. The night before I hadn’t turned my light out before the power got cut off. So when it came on again at five, the bright, bare lightbulb hanging above my face came on too. Paul went to work at 5.30, to go to “the abatoir on the point” to slaughter sheep. This was insanity itself:  The man was so drunk the night before he walked into a door, he had had four hours sleep. And, if hungover, he would resolve the problem by shooting sheep in the face and ripping their guts out. As a practised student I realised however that better than this was to lie in until 10.30, and nurse the hangover with a pint of water by the peat-stove. 

I thought I’d help Paul out by washing the dishes from the night before. It took me a while to boil enough kettles to fill the sink, and when I had done I realised that the pans had been soaking overnight, and they needed emptying. However I couldn’t pour them down the drain, as the sink was full, so I took them outside. Thinking I had been clever, I threw the fatty chicken water into the wind. And promptly received the whole lot again back in my face, as I hadn’t calculated for Falklands gales. 

As I was picking bits of chicken off my freezing wet fleece, Paul came in. He laughed at my predicament, had a coffee and a cigarette and led me to his abattoir. I watched him stun the sheep with a bolt gun, slit their throats and flay them while they were warm. Ron the Farmer came in with Fat Sam – who is as fat as his name suggests and claims that he shags any woman that comes to Goose Green. As Paul was mindlessly and yet skillfully butchering sheep he discussed the forthcoming Goose Green fair. 

“I can’t believe me and Karen have got to run the Wheel Of Fortune again.”

Bang. A sheep collapses to the floor with a bolt through its head.

“Do you remember old Reggie’s kid who won that big bar of Dairy Milk on our stall last year?”

 Crack. After slitting the throat Paul wrenches it’s head back to break the spinal column. 

“Yeah, he was over the bloody moon wasn’t he?” Said Fat Sam, as Paul deftly slipped his hand in between the hide and the inner membrane, exposing the steaming carcass underneath. 

“You look cold Mike.”

 Of course I was. There was a force eight gale outside, and the wooden slats across the windows weren’t offering much insulation. 

“Go on. Put your hands in here. It’ll warm you up.” Paul offered as he pulled the fleece off. When in Rome I thought, and sure enough my hands welcomed the warmth. 

Ron the Farmer and Fat Sam left without saying goodbye, and I watched another couple of killings. I had decided that actually it was a clinical and somewhat dull operation. Until Paul lead me outside, with armfuls of bowels and intestines, which he threw one by one to the ravenous seagulls who ripped them apart in mid-air. 

I returned to dig peat for the fire, and answered the phone from Paul’s sister in England. She was phoning to ask for more money. The poor guy only makes £4 an hour, and takes home £4,000 after a 4 month season. For the toughest job I have ever seen. Paul had slaughtered fifteen sheep that morning, and after lunch he was off to do some gathering with Buzz and 8-Steps. 

The winds were really getting up, so I decided to go for a walk. My course was dictated by the wind direction, it was hard to walk in any other direction. Soon I came to a fence: “Danger Mine Field”. Paul told me later that, in the less windy months, he comes down to this part of Goose Green to play golf. “Yeah, it always goes over there into that field, but I just climb over the fence to play it. You’ve got to play the ball where it lies. The rules of golf are more important than the rules of the M.O.D., Mike”. I think that even Ian Woosnam would disagree. 

On the way over to Lieutenant Nick Taylor’s grave, I met Ron the Farmer coming back from the race course. He sped up to me on his quad-bike, and poking his ruddy pink face out of a small hole in his green-peaked balaclava, he muttered something like “Wind today, Mike.” I would never have noticed if it wasn’t for Ron the Farmer. Nick Taylor’s grave marked the spot where he was shot down in 1982, and the grave was decorated with plastic flowers and parts of his plane. I visited the Goose Green race course, which was no more than a barn with one side missing, looking out over the race course: A long fence in the middle of bleak Falkland moorland, around which nags must have sped in it’s glory days. 

Where were you at the turn of the millenium? Some may be able to answer this question with “The Goose Green race course”. It wasn’t a televised event, but judging by the limp Union-Jack bunting that still hangs around the stand eight months later, it was the place to be as the rest of the world celebrated. On the way back, walking into the wind I often had to stop and turn my back on the gale in order to catch a breath.

Paul was chatting to Willy when I returned, and then he showed me to Buzz’s place. After we got there, Paul left immediately. He later explained that he couldn’t bear being near Buzz when he didn’t have to. Their team consists of five people; it must be hard working in such isolated conditions with someone you despise. 

Buzz sat me down with a beer and a cigarette, in order to show me his Australia album. The Falkland Island Government had paid for Buzz to leave the country (I wouldn’t be surprised if Paul had chipped in), and learn about sheep in New South Wales. This is the singularly most exciting thing that has happened in Buzz’s life – as he enthusiastically took me through his photos of his time there. Unsurprisingly each picture of a sheep, was followed by a picture of a sheep. This is his life after all. However if there was a woman in the picture, he’d shagged her. I thanked him for sharing such personal moments with me, and used his computer. Which he was about to sell as he didn’t know how it worked. 

Buzz kept himself happy by watching “You’ve been Framed”. He laughed uproariously at every single painful-looking clip. Only the Germans have a word for taking pleasure out of other people’s misfortune; although we have made an entire T.V. show out of schadenfreude. 

Outside the blizzard conditions were getting worse, as I dragged myself from one side of Goose Green to the other. In Paul’s living room I discovered Willy in the same position, and Paul sitting on the couch. Both were surrounded by many empty cans of Red. I had interrupted another conversation about fencing and gathering. Soon however the conversation turned to the war. I was hoping Willy may be able to regale me with tales of heroism. Sadly:

“I never seen an Argie. Not then not now. An’ there ain’t many Falklanders who can say that.”  Willy had moved between two farms on the West Island, and when the Argies were at one, he was at the other one, tending his sheep. Many locals risked their lives during the war in order to look after their sheep, or else the sheep population would have died too. One farmer got permission from the British troops in Goose Green to shepherd his flock. As he was riding away from the village a British helicopter shot at him, and he had to explain himself. 

Paul’s dad however was a brave farmer. He and his mate were held at gunpoint in the abattoir we’d been in that morning for a whole day, until they’d slaughtered a couple of hundred sheep for the troops. In order to out-do this tale, Willy began to explain the legend of Ron Rosey. 

“Some Argies came onto the west island see, but no-one wanted any trouble see, so they just gave them what they wanted. All except for Ron Rosey. Who bared his arse at a passing Argie plane. Which then shot bullets into the ground around him until he pulled his pants up.”

We decided to take Paul’s lamb roast over to Willy’s to cook. As Paul was sorting this out in the kitchen I got Willy talking about his trip to Britain again. He had visited Swindon. I consoled him in advance, saying that there were better towns in England to visit. However his reasons for disliking it again surprised me. 

“Everything was the same colour there. And they didn’t have no wheely bins.”

“What’s wrong with that?” I enquired. 

“Rubbish just gets left lying around. Wheely bins makes it all so much tidier.”

Me, Paul, Willy and the roast lamb piled into Willy’s car, which took a while to get started because of the cold, and drove over to Willy’s house. Which was no more than 50 metres away. After all, there was an Antarctic storm going on outside. The car was knackered, with every bump the headlights went on and off. 

For the rest of the evening I had the by now familiar feeling of being excluded in the conversation about fencing and gathering. A while later it seemed they may have finally exhausted their chosen specialised subject. So I asked Willy about  the odd, dark painting on the wall behind me. It portrayed the face of a girl in the dark holding a candle. 

“What’s that Willy?”

”It’s called ‘Girl With a Candle’.”

Apparently his daughter had bought it for him out of a Freeman’s catalogue. 

“I didn’t know you could buy paintings from Freeman’s. Can you buy Monet and Picasso originals too?” I quipped. 

“I ‘spect so yeah.”

I don’t think he got the joke. The girl with the candle stared blankly at Willy, while Willy stared blankly at the wall, and explained to me the problems of alcoholism amongst workers in camp. 

“In the old days, the boys would do anything to get their hands on the stuff. Used to drink meths you know – that stuffs pretty pure.”

“But it’s not exactly good for you”

“The purple stuff  - no. But old Jimmy Duncan worked out how to get rid of the colouring; you pour the bottle though a loaf of bread. That filters the impurities you know.”

Jimmy Duncan, a clearly resourceful although desperate man, also broke open compasses to drink the alcohol in them. 

Willy had mentioned his daughter earlier, and I was keen to find out what sort of a family he had. He replied by showing me a picture of his daughter, who he was obviously very proud of:

“Would you shag her?”

“Err.” I’ve never be asked this by a girl’s father before. But if we were the last two people on the planet I would resort to bestiality. Even a hammer-head shark has it’s eyes closer together. 

“She’s coming tomorrow night, you know for the Goose Green social night?”

“You could have her if you want.” Paul informed me in all honesty. 

I quickly and obviously changed the subject to the sparse collection of books above his head, suspecting that he might not be up to reading or owning his own book collection. I was right. 

“They was here when I moved in – no good to me. The leopard and the tiger are mine though.” He pointed to two small porcelain animals flanking the library.

“He shot them himself.” Paul whispered to me. What worried me was that Willy may well have believed that he did. 

As the conversation had done in the abattoir that morning with Fat Sam, it turned to the exciting prospect of the Goose Green social event, on Saturday night after the fair. Willy then had a go at Paul for his extraordinary luck at “tickets”. “Tickets”, I was taught, is a game that consists of books of raffle tickets that you buy – and one is drawn from the a hat and that number was the winner. I call that a raffle. But what differentiates “tickets” from a raffle is that “tickets” also includes rolling dice and dealing cards and drinking. It’s a very multipurpose game – the only problem being that, apart from the raffle section of the game, no-one seems to understand it. Paul spent a while trying to remember the card part of the game; and finally concluded that a seven meant you must order the drinks, and a fourteen meant you must buy them, and a twenty one meant that you must drink them. This bit sounds familiar, but Paul failed to explain how this had anything to do with the dice or the raffle. Either way, Paul assured me that the cards were an integral part of the game. 

Before I could ask further questions about this game, Willy was off again, when he described how the last time he had played “tickets”, he had had to drink a shot of all the optics. He stood on a table apparently, and with that passed out crashing to the floor. But he didn’t feel too bad the next day. 

Obviously the conversation soon returned too fencing and gathering – at which point I was unable to make the effort anymore, so I read a thirteen-year old copy of National Geographic which was part of Willy’s expansive library. The last article in the magazine was written about a natural disaster in Cameroon in 1985; 1,700 people died overnight. A volcanic lake emitted a cloud of carbon dioxide that killed an entire valley of people while they slept.  That’s the entire permanent population of the Falklands. Five hundred people at the most died in the 1982 conflict, but everyone around the world heard about it. I thought this was fascinating, but when I tried to enlighten Paul and Willy about it, Willy just talked over me, and Paul reckoned it was time to go home. 

It was snowing hard outside. So we got in the car, after forcing the door open as it had frozen up while we were inside. It was then I realised I had the flu, and so I slept poorly that night. 

Paul had left by the time I got up. Outside the window the snow had fallen thickly, and I couldn’t see five hundred metres across the bay. I was not going to attempt another brave Captain Oates walk in order to see something as unimpressive as the Goose Green racecourse. My first concern was that I really would be able to leave the islands this week, so I phoned the travel agent to check that my flight would be leaving the next day. Paul had been out all morning in these ridiculous conditions collecting rubbish with Buzz and 8-Steps. He returned to watch the end of Striptease with me, possibly the worst film I have ever seen, with a plot even less likely than “Brotherhood of the gun”. 

That afternoon Paul went off to deliver beef cuts, while Buzz and 8-Steps shovelled shit. I on the other hand, after unsuccessfully trying to prize frozen lumps of peat off the pile outside, decided to retire to Buzz’s living room to play “Tomorrow Never Dies” on his playstation. When Buzz returned, he didn’t seem to mind me sitting there drinking his beer and playing on his computer. In fact he relished having an opponent, so we played “Grand Turismo”, until we were blue in the face. Quite literally, as neither of us wanted to go outside to shovel more peat for the stove. 

I thanked Buzz for the beers and cigarettes and entertainment, and went outside to vomit. Back at Paul’s, Paul was performing the unenviable task of finishing off the Demi Moore double bill. Feeling as I did, I passed up the chance to see G.I. Jane in favour of sleeping. Later I woke up to meet Paul’s fiancee, Karen, and a young couple from Northarm, and their kids, Jason and Tyler, and a nameless baby. They offered nothing of interest, so I went back to bed. 

For some strange reason I agreed to get a lift to Stanley, via the para cemetry, argie cemetry and Port San Carlos, the British landing position. I went all this way, the northern western tip of the East Island to indulged in a snowball fight with the kids and Karen in front of the memorial. The fun ended when  Tyler’s mum legitimately shouted at him for throwing a snowball at Jason who was hiding behind a gravestone. For the next hour we were in the company of a mad old scotsman from whom Paul bought his expensive shearing equipment. As Paul worried about the price I worried about catching my flight. 

As we got into the car at Port San Carlos, I expressed my concern for the time. My plane was due to fly in an hour and a half,  and we were purchasing shearing equipment from a Scotsman in one of the islands many sparsely populated remote communities.Paul radioed Arturo and told him to step on it. And that the two of them did. Although the conditions were icey, and we were stopping every five minutes to open and close gates, their combined driving skills were second to none. There were no other cars on the road betwen there and Mount Pleasant, and there weren’t likely to be. As we left the dirt tracks and the gates behind us, we gathered pace at break-neck speeds. We were going to make it. I wasn’t going to be trapped on the island after all. 

We must have been ten minutes away from Mount Pleasant, when Paul checked his rear-view mirror. “Fucking hell!” – and with that he slammed on the brakes. Arturo’s landrover, that a minute ago was fifty metres behind us was no longer there. He’d hit an ice patch and careered off the road. Paul did a u-turn and drew up alongside their car. It was now on it’s side, and steam was rising from the bonnet. Paul, Karen, Jason and I jumped out of the car and they all shouted at the vehicle. I stood back amazed. Arturo climbed out of the drivers side door, dazed, with with blood pouring out of his nose: he’d broken it on the steering wheel. Charlotte, was still sitting the passenger seat wheel, with what was later diagnosed as whiplash. The baby, strapped in tight on the back seat between the boys, had just woken up and was crying. Elvis, who had been sitting in the back left was screaming with pain, when the car landed on it’s side he’d broken his left arm. Tyler, who’d been wearing a seatbelt was unhurt but began crying out of shock .  

They had been lucky.  A mile further down the oversized storm trenches lined the road, here there was just an incline from the moorland up to the tarmac, and it was this slope that flipped the car. The storm trenches were built by forces engineers who had taken the rainfall readings from the island to be for a month, not a year. So they multiplied all their measurements by twelve; thus constructing massive ditches, deathtraps to anyone unfortunaet enough to come off the road. 17 people have been killed on these parts of the roads since their construction in the mid-eighties. 

Paul, Arturo, Karen and I got everyone free of the car. We all sat on the verge in a shocked silence, broken only by gentle sobs. I looked at my watch. 20 minutes till my plane was due to take off. I had to get that plane, so I mentioned it to Paul. Without saying anything, Arturo nodded, Karen said “You’ll need to go and get help anyway, Paul.” I didn’t know what to say to them all. So Paul and I just got in the car, and drove. We were at Mount Pleasant in five minutes, and I hastily thanked Paul and said goodbye. I didn’t know what else to say. I was hurried through the boarding proceedure, and soon I was sitting on the plane. 

So that was it. I was due to return to the strange comforts offered by Richard Stain. I looked back at my week with the Bennies and realised I had been priviledged to meet some fascinating and generous people, who had all looked after me and taught me so much about this strange, forgotten part of the United Kingdom. 

A flight from RAF Brize Norton return to MPA costs £1600. 
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